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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The West Virginia Capitol Complex, located along the Kanawha River in 
Charleston, incorporates the State Capitol with its three attached units 
and the Executive Mansion which serves as the home of the governor. Cover­ 
ing an expanse of more than eighteen acres, the capitol shadows the mansion 
which is set on its western side. The following descriptions will indicate 
the physical appearance of each.

WEST VIRGINIA STATE CAPITOL

Designed in Italian Renaissance style by renowned architect Cass 
Gilbert and completed in steps between 1924 and 1932 at a cost of a little 
less than $10,000,000, the symmetrical, uU"-shaped West Virginia State 
Capitol, of limestone and marble, has a porticoed central section and two 
four-story (plus basement) wings attached to the main unit by a single 
story divider.

The office wings, to the east and west of the domed section, are about 
three hundred feet long by sixty feet wide and have slightly projecting 
central entrances with a greater projection opposite and to the rear of the 
building. Pilasters run between window arrangements on the upper three 
floors to support the surrounding cornice. As with the central section, 
the wings have a flat roof enclosed by a balustraded parapet. The oblong 
area inside the "U11 formed by the complex is landscaped to complement the 
structure.

A two hundred and ninety-two feet high dome (about four and one-half 
feet higher than that of the United States Capitol), embossed with gold 
leaf, crowns the central unit, which measures one hundred and twenty by 
five hundred and fifty-eight feet. Atop the crowning lantern is a bronze 
staff upon which is poised a golden eagle. The outer walls, like those of 
the wings constructed of Indiana select buff limestone, are adorned with 
pairs of Doric pilasters, two stories in height, which rise in support of 
the main cornice.

The primary entrance on Kanawha Boulevard, protected by a monumental 
Corinthian portico balanced on the opposite side of the central unit by a 
similar entrance, is approached by a broad flight of steps. The colonnade 
of the portico rises in support of a plain classic pediment under a copper- 
colored gable roof.

This main, south entrance opens into the rotunda on the principal 
floor, and one is surrounded by a circular-arched hall directly beneath 
the high dome. Its pilastered walls of Imperial Danby Vermont marble, 
pierced with four massive arches, rise to a carved frieze at the base of 
the drum. The north and south arches open upon the two entrance porticoes, 
while the two others give access to the east and west foyers. These foy­ 
ers lead to the house and senate chambers, in the east and west wings 
respectively of the central unit. The arches extend to the base of the 
dome and are adorned with lunette panels of deep-blue plaster. The floor 
of the rotunda, circular in plan around an open well, is inlaid with 
Italian travertine and white Vermont marble. A balustrade encircles the 
well in the rotunda floor, through which can be seen a colonnaded hall on 
the floor below. Gold-leaf bands decorate the walls of the circular drum 
and ceiling of the dome, which are in shades of blue, gray and old rose.
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TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The West Virginia Capitol Complex consists of the three-unit State 
Capitol and the Executive Mansion. The former was constructed under 
supervision of renowned architect Cass Gilbert, who presented it in an 
Italian Renaissance design with a high dome, continuing the tradition of 
the lines of the United States Capitol and presenting a magnificent struc­ 
ture to the people of West Virginia. The Executive Mansion, as somewhat 
of a contrast, was planned and supervised by Walter F. Martens, an archi­ 
tect in Charleston, West Virginia, who was comparatively young in the 
profession and had never undertaken a project of such scope before. This 
building is of fine, but simple, Georgian Colonial design and serves the 
state as the home of its governor. The architectural significance of 
these structures may be better appreciated when it is realized that they 
are also quite politically significant, for they house the highest branches 
of state government. In effect, then, each complements the other, the 
beauty of the buildings matching the state functions of legislature, execu­ 
tive and judiciary, and the government processes making the buildings in 
which they are practiced outstanding.

On January 3, 1921, a fire swept through the West Virginia State 
Capitol at Charleston and completely destroyed the building and its con­ 
tents. The need for a new structure was immediate, but it was generally 
agreed that plans and preparations should be well developed and considered 
before proceeding, for a capitol would have to be built to meet several 
types of demands. The people should be given an impressive structure 
which would serve the needs of state government in a practical sense for 
a long time to come. Above all, construction should be undertaken with 
the idea of providing an edifice of quality at a reasonable cost. While 
problems were discussed, the state government was temporarily housed in a 
long office building of wood, often referred to as the "pasteboard" capitol.

The first step toward construction of a new capitol was taken during 
an extraordinary session of the 1921 West Virginia Legislature when a 
seven member Capitol Building Commission was created. On July 23, 1921, 
this group selected Cass Gilbert as architect of the complex, and on 
December 20, 1921, the^present site was selected for the new buildings.

Gilbert 1 ! sielection as architect came only after the Building Com­ 
mission considered the leaders in the profession. It found that Mr. 
Gilbert had more to his credit and that he came more highly recommended 
than any other member of his profession. His achievements were found in 
some of the most famous buildings in the country, including the Woolworth 
Building in New York, which at the time was pictured everywhere as the 
tallest structure in the world. To his credit also were the capitols in
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A row of slender windows covered with gold-leaf grilles encircles the dome at 
the base of the bell.

Walls and floors of the foyers are of the same marble as that of the 
rotunda, but the ceilings are embellished with square coffered panels, each 
decorated with a bronze cluster of leaves against a background of rose. Light 
comes softly through translucent Italians alabaster urns, supported on stand­ 
ards of black and gold Belgian marble.

Designed with strict classic proportions, the Senate chamber, at the 
west end of the main unit, has an air of quiet dignity and beauty. Public 
galleries framed by massive arches open on three sides of the room, and a 
fourth arch, set with a blue panel, is a background for the dais. The walls 
are divided by rose-colored panels of acoustic plaster. Behind the galleries 
are small arched windows covered with ornamental bronze grilles. The domical 
ceiling, topped with a small cupola, is in the form of a paneled skylight with 
stained glass. In the center, hung on a brass chain, is a chandelier of 
imported hand-cut glass. The chamber of the House of Delegates is similar.

Double flanking stairways of white marble, leading off the hallway on 
the south side of the rotunda, descend to the Doric Hall, under the rotunda 
on the ground floor. This hall has fluted Doric columns and six crystal 
lights suspended on bronze chains. In the center of the hall is a circular 
colonnade of sixteen square Doric piers, enclosing the well in the rotunda 
floor. Bronze light stands are arranged in pairs inside the colonnade. High 
above the well is the blue vaulted ceiling of the dome. A crystal chandelier, 
eight feet in diameter, containing more than 3,300 pieces of hand-cut crystal 
and weighing more than two tons, is suspended from the dome ceiling. A cir­ 
cular design on the floor has the same diameter as the chandelier far above.

The outer reception room of the governor's suite, on the ground floor in 
the extreme west end of the main unit, is regarded as a show room of the 
capitol. It is of Georgian Colonial design with ivory-colored walls, embel­ 
lished with fluted Corinthian pilasters. The parquet floors, of herringbone 
design, have a border of quarter-sawed oak, black walnut and maple. The 
floor is covered with a tan rug, twenty-six by sixty feet and weighing 1,800 
pounds, made especially for the room and said to have been the largest seam­ 
less rug in the United States at the time the Capitol was constructed. Two 
large crystal chandeliers and many crystal wall brackets light the room; a 
fireplace of black and gold Belgian marble is at the eastern end.

WEST VIRGINIA EXECUTIVE MANSION

Built in 1924-1925 under the supervision of architect Walter F. Martens, 
the West Virginia Executive Mansion is of red Harvard colonial brick laid in 
Flemish bond with black headers. The Georgian Colonial building is fronted 
by a central, two-story portico with a bracketed pediment supported by four 
free standing and two engaged fluted Corinthian columns. The capitals of 
these columns are ornate with acanthus leaves, and this lends an impressive 
grace and dignity.to the front of the mansion. The arched entranceway,

; ~r
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painted white to complement the brickwork as is all trim, frames a delicate 
fanlight above the door.

On either side of the structure, and extending about one-third of the 
depth, are porches surrounded by a low balustrade and rows of columns which 
rise to support a flat roof onto which several second floor rooms open. 
These second floor balconies also have low balustrades with interesting 
designs in wood. The porch to the east is open, while that toward the west 
is enclosed. A single story entranceway at the rear balances the central, 
front portico.

A bracketed cornice circles the house above the second floor, and third 
floor dormers pleasingly jut from the indented, siate-shingled mansard roof. 
The third story was not included when the mansion was first built, but 
original plans called for it and it was added in 1946. Until then, the 
building was capped above the second floor with a flat tin roof. The mansion 
has been redecorated twice since construction, in 1937 and 1958.

Completing the grounds, the enclosed gardens and a garage over which are 
the servant quarters were added in 1926, and they each complement the mansion 
while functioning in their own right as distinct elements.

As one enters through the main portico, he is immediately struck by the 
checkered black Belgian and white Tennessee marble floor which is flanked by 
well-proportioned, dual Georgian staircases, a design inspired by architec­ 
tural studies of the White House. The main floor also houses the elegantly 
designed and furnished drawing room, ballroom, State dining room,a sitting 
room and the library. Eight bedrooms and four baths, including the Governor f s 
private quarters and family room, are located on the second floor, and the 
third floor contains two additional bedrooms.

8. SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)

St. Paul, Minnesota, and Little Rock, Arkansas, buildings of the University 
of Texas and University of Minnesota, the United States Treasury Annex at 
Washington, D.C., and the United States Chamber of Commerce Building in the 
nation's capital.

After many consultations and exchanges of ideas, Gilbert's plans were 
adopted, and contracts were let for office building number one, the west wing 
of the capitol, on December 22, 1923. Ground was broken on January 7, 1924, 
and the structure was completed and accepted by the Building Commission on 
April 14, 1925. The east office building was begun in 1926 and completed in 
December 1927, while the main unit was not started until March 31, 1930, and 
was finally finished on February 10, 1932.

The U-shaped complex which now houses the legislature and numerous 
departments of state as well as the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, 
took eleven years to complete. Under the guidance of Cass Gilbert and the 
restraints of appropriations, the magnificence may be better understood when 
one looks at what was accomplished for a total of less than $10,000,000.

Developed as an expanse along the Kanawha River, the capitol is

GPO 921-724
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"especially known for its fine proportions and high dome about four and one- 
half feet higher than that at the United States Capitol. Gilbert's idea 
of combining the best materials with consideration of function and cost led 
to construction of an edifice which would be as practical as it was beauti­ 
ful. The Indiana limestone and Vermont marble were of high quality, use of 
gold to cover the embossed panels of the dome was justified as being less 
expensive than upkeep of a painted top, and no effort was lost in making 
legislative chambers attractive at the same time as guaranteeing their 
meeting the demands of usefulness.

The main unit is about 558 feet long and 120 feet wide and has two 
connecting wings each 300 feet by 60 feet. The wings having four floors 
plus basement and the central section having three floors plus basement, 
the complex offers about fourteen acres of usable floor space. Such a 
large area brought most state agencies under one roof, so to speak, until 
new state buildings were constructed nearby about the time of World War II.

The capitol was dedicated on June 20, 1932, sixty-ninth anniversary of 
the state's admission into the Union, and was first used by the legislature 
in an extraordinary session convened on July 12, 1932. Since that time it 
has been the center of state affairs, the place where its laws are made, 
carried into effect and ruled upon by its highest court when necessary.

Even as the initial plans to build a new capitol went forward in 1921, 
talk of a permanent facility to house the state's governor and his family 
was heard. Land for an executive mansion was purchased on July 7, 1921, 
at a time when there was considerable speculation as to where the Capitol 
Building Commission would decide to erect the new capitol. As it happened, 
the mansion site was only a street and lawn away from the proposed state 
house.

Walter F. Martens, an aspiring Charleston architect who had little idea 
he would be considered, was chosen to draw up and present plans for the 
structure. After much thought, study and some conversation with capitol 
architect Gilbert, he presented his sketches for the Georgian Colonial 
edifice that is today the West Virginia Executive Mansion. Although the 
full extent of his ideas was not immediately carried out, the job was com­ 
pleted in 1946 when the third floor was added to the building.

This new governor's home was the second owned by the state; the first 
had been purchased only in 1893 from a firm which had constructed a house 
just a few years before for a private residence. Before that time, West 
Virginia governors had to house themselves.

Ephraim F. Morgan, governor from 1921 to 1925, first occupied the new 
mansion only one week prior to the expiration of his term. It has since 
housed twelve governors, including the present executive, Arch A. Moore, Jr.

The West Virginia Capitol Complex, which includes the State Capitol 
and the Executive Mansion, combines a structure of an Italian Renaissance 
design with one of Georgian Colonial. Spacious lawns and landscaped ter­ 
races, however, allow their existence in close proximity without a clashing 
of styles. Each has its own significance: the capitol's distinctive 
grandeur of size and the mansion's fine, but simple, lines. Architecturally

GPO 921-724
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8. SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)

complementary in this sense, the structures serve the functional needs of the 
state in housing its chief executive, legislature and highest court.
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